FILED
October 28, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

73107-6

COA No. 73107-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}.$

SEAN LAWARD GRAHAM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY

The Honorable Theresa B. Doyle

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In Sean Graham's trial on a charge of first degree assault, the court abused its discretion in denying the defense motion for a mistrial where multiple violations of the court's <u>in limine</u> ruling caused Mr. Graham's trial to be unfair.
 - 2. Cumulative errors deprived Mr. Graham of a fair trial.
- 3. The sentencing court erred by imposing an exceptional sentence premised on the aggravating factor of "particular vulnerability."
- 4. The aggravating factor of particular vulnerability is unconstitutionally vague.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Was a mistrial required when witness no. 1, King County Jail Officer John Hurt, violated the trial court's <u>in limine</u> order that the witnesses were not to refer to the Jail facility where Mr. Graham was housed as a disciplinary unit or a Jail unit where persons where housed because of past disciplinary problems?
- 2. Did the cumulative prejudice of this, and further error, violate Mr. Graham's right to a fair trial?

3. The State's trial theory was that Mr. Graham, while detained at the King County Jail in Kent, threatened to kill Jail guards in general, then a week later he specifically threatened Officer Gill Letrondo. The following day, he surprise-attacked Officer Letrondo by rushing at him and punching him in the head, causing him to fall prone and temporarily unconscious, then kicking him, ultimately all resulting in head lacerations and a subdural hematoma. Graham's crime of first degree assault, by intentionally attacking Letrondo with "force or means" likely to cause great bodily harm or permanent death under subsection (1)(a) of RCW 9A.36.011, was proved to the jury by the evidence of the threats, and by the evidence that his attack caused the aforementioned impairment and injuries. He first received a standard sentence, but then also an exceptional term.

To enforce Due Process, must this Court hold that under the standards of sufficiency of the evidence applicable to the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), this defendant could not be *further* punished beyond the standard range under the notion that the officer became "particularly vulnerable" by going unconscious during the commission of the crime?

4. Is the statutory aggravating factor of particular vulnerability unconstitutionally vague under the Fourteenth Amendment, where it provides no notice, and contains no standards to protect against arbitrary, ad hoc enforcement?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Charges and State's theory of the case. The defendant Sean L. Graham was charged with one count of first degree assault for battery of King County Jail/Department of Corrections Officer Gil Letrondo while Graham was a detainee at the Kent Regional Jail. Graham was also charged with four counts of custodial assault (simple assault) as to Corrections Officers Michael Wells, Marcel Williamson, Michael Allen, and Timothy Wright, who were involved in responding to the incident. CP 1-11; CP 226-28.

According to the State's allegations, Sean Graham was a Jail detained housed in the "Nora East" unit of the King County Jail in Kent (Regional Justice Center/RJC), in January of 2011. On January 9, Mr. Graham was disciplined by King County Jail (KCJ) Officer Gil Letrondo, who revoked his out-of-cell privilege for that day. Graham threatened Officer Letrondo, and said he would kill him. On January 10, Mr. Graham was angry and yelling about his punishment for Jail

rules violations. CP 1-11; Supp. CP ____ (Sub # 172 – State's trial brief, at pp. 5-6).

On January 11, in the afternoon, KCJ Officer Michael Wells was with Officer Letrondo near the duty station, adjacent to the detainee's shower area, when Mr. Graham exited his cell, and "approach[ed] [Officer Letrondo] at a very fast pace" and punched the officer twice, causing Letrondo to go unconscious and fall to the floor, prone. CP 1-11; State's trial brief, at pp. 5-6. Graham "continued to assault the unconscious officer" while he was lying on the ground unconscious, by kicking and stomping on him. State's trial brief, at p. 6. A note or letter was later found in Mr. Graham's cell in which he had written, on January 5, that he was angry and was "ready to kill" the Jail guards. CP 7-8 (affidavit); State's trial brief, at p. 8.

2. <u>Aggravating Factor(s)</u>. In addition to the charge of assaulting Officer Letrondo with intentional "<u>force and means</u>" likely to produce great bodily harm or death, the State alleged an aggravating factor that Letrondo was 'particularly vulnerable' because Mr. Graham continued to physically assault Letrondo after he was prone on the floor and unconscious following Graham's first two punches. CP 1-11; CP 206; CP 199; 11/24/14RP at 119 (prosecutor's closing argument, in

reference to particular vulnerability, arguing: "What we are referring to is about when Officer Letrondo was on the ground, unconscious."). The jury also found the aggravating factor that Officer Letrondo was a law enforcement officer. CP 205.

3. <u>Sentencing</u>. At sentencing, the trial court imposed standard range terms, including a sentence of 277 months (the top of the standard range) on the first degree assault, with an additional 12 months for each aggravating factor for a total of 301 months incarceration. 1/9/15RP at 273-74; CP 229-40; CP 205, CP 206. Mr. Graham timely appealed his judgment and sentence. CP 520-45.

¹ Mr. Graham is not challenging the 12 months of exceptional incarceration imposed for the law enforcement officer aggravating factor. However, although there were two aggravating factors, the issue of the particular vulnerability factor is fully consequential because the court imposed a discrete period of incarceration solely for that factor. Compare State v. Douglas, 173 Wn. App. 849, 856, 295 P.3d 812, review denied, 178 Wn. 2d 1004 (2013) (court need not reverse exceptional sentence if it is confident that trial court would impose same sentence based on any of the multiple aggravating factors alone).

D. ARGUMENT

- (1). A MISTRIAL WAS REQUIRED BECAUSE THE REVELATION THAT MR. GRAHAM WAS BEING HOUSED IN A DISCIPLINARY OR HIGH SECURITY UNIT CAUSED INCURABLE PREJUDICE IN HIS PROSECUTION FOR VIOLENT ASSAULT.
- (a). Pre-trial motion. Prior to trial, the court discussed Mr.

 Graham's concerns regarding the State's desire to refer to the Jail unit where Mr. Graham was housed as a segregated unit. 11/3/14RP at 49-53.

The prosecutor asserted that this was necessary in order to explain the physical layout of the cell area, to show that Mr. Graham was in a Jail area that took time for responding officers to get to, and to show that the defendant had "intent" because of his anger at Officer Letrondo for taking away his sole one hour out-of-cell privilege for persons in that unit. 11/3/14RP at 50-51, 54.

Mr. Graham argued that the State could elicit testimony about the physical layout of the area, but any facts showing Mr. Graham was housed in administrative segregation, or in a more restrictive area of the Jail, would be prejudicial by portraying him as "simply a dangerous guy." 11/3/14RP at 53.

The prosecutor assured the Court that it would <u>not</u> be discussing Mr. Graham's "disciplinary problems" or "disciplinary reasons" as to why the defendant was placed in this unit of the Jail. 11/3/14RP at 51, 54. The court stated that the term "segregated unit" was a more neutral, proper label. 11/3/14RP at 52-53.

(b). Multiple violations. The court's cautions were not followed. During the testimony of the State's first trial witness, KCJ Officer John Hurt, the prosecutor was asking Officer Hurt to explain what a security radio call, or "code blue," meant. The officer stated that this means that there is an emergency situation and officers should come to the location. 11/12/14RP at 9-10.

When the prosecutor asked what "security Nora East" meant,
Officer Hurt replied, "So many different units at the Regional Justice
Center. Nora East was primarily a <u>disciplinary</u> unit, or ---." (Emphasis added.) 11/12/14RP at 10.

The prosecutor, attempting to steer the witness away from the prohibited topic, directed him toward testifying that Nora East was the name of a geographical unit in the facility. 11/12/14RP at 10.

However, a short time later, when describing the multiple officers that moved through the outer doors in response to the code

blue, Hurt again stated that Mr. Graham was housed in the "disciplinary" unit.

- Q: As you were running down towards Nora East, were there others joining you or –
- A: Yes. There was in fact, I vividly recall passing people along the way, which is typical during response time.

 Usually the first person to open a door will hold the door open as people can respond, and that way doors won't shut on responding staff.

And this one was --- Nora East is --- <u>like I said</u>, it was a <u>disciplinary</u> or ---

(Emphasis added.) 11/12/14RP at 11. Testimony continued for a short period. During an immediate recess, the trial court stated that these two instances were violations of its order in limine directing that the Jail area be referred to only as a segregated unit. 11/12/14RP at 11-12. (In a subsequent recess, Mr. Graham's counsel moved for the mistrial.) 11/12/14RP at 42; see Part 1(c), infra.

Officer Hurt had remained in the courtroom when the parties argued about the initial violations of the <u>in limine</u> ruling. 11/12/14RP at 11-14. The court asked the witness if he had forgotten what he had been instructed, and the prosecutor assured the court that it had instructed all of its witnesses according to the court's ruling, and spoke with Officer Hurt about this specifically. 11/12/14RP at 14.

However, Officer Hurt later interjected that he and other Jail officers, after the assault incident, transported Mr. Graham to the King County Jail "where he was made an ultra security inmate and --."

1/12/14RP at 41-42.

The trial court sustained the defendant's objection to relevance and granted the motion to strike. 11/12/14RP at 41-2.

(c). Mistrial motion. Mr. Graham moved for a mistrial, based on the witness's statements made "despite repeated warning[.]" 11/3/14RP at 42-43. The prosecutor responded that the third comment was different from what the witness had been warned about, and that the comments were not prejudicial because the defense was arguing that the pressures of solitary confinement caused the defendant to lose control. 11/12/14RP at 44. The prosecutor also argued that a mistrial should not be granted where the State instructed "these witnesses, over and over again," and where it had taken a long time for the case to proceed to trial. 11/12/14RP at 45-46.

The trial court denied the mistrial motion, agreeing that the case was "proceeding along," and stating that it did not want to "derail" the case. 11/12/14RP at 46-47. However, the court directed

the prosecutor to provide the State's witnesses "with a list of banned terms." 11/12/14RP at 46-47.

(d). A mistrial was required for irregularities causing incurable prejudice, and Mr. Graham was also prejudiced by cumulative error. Mr. Graham's arguments of incurable prejudice support reversal under the mistrial standard, and the cumulative error doctrine; both issues are raised as assignments of error, and both turn on the question whether the defendant has received a fair trial. See Parts A(1), and B(1), supra.

Mr. Graham did not have a fair trial. The Supreme Court has said:

If we are persuaded that . . . a witness for the state is deliberately trying to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, we will assume that he succeeded in his purpose and grant a new trial.

State v. Nettleton, 65 Wn.2d 878, 880 n. 4, 400 P.2d 301 (1965).

In this case, for some reason Officer Hurt did not respect the prosecutor's and the court's repeated instructions. In any event, regardless of the witness's purpose, because of the prejudice caused when the jury *heard* the witness's remarks – even if limited to the first *two* remarks -- Mr. Graham's trial was not fair because he was incurably prejudiced.

As to the mistrial standard, the trial court must grant a mistrial where an irregularity occurs and as a result the defendant's right to a fair trial is "so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be tried fairly." State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 718 P.2d 407, cert. denied, 479 U.S. 995 (1986); State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983). Where a trial court abuses its discretion in the denial of a defendant's mistrial motion, the defendant is entitled to a new trial. State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 256-57, 742 P.2d 190 (1987).

Further, the cumulative error doctrine allows this Court to reverse for multiple errors that together resulted in denial of the Due Process right of a fair trial. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93-94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995); State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 150-51, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992); U.S. Const. amend. 14, Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3. Under the doctrine, this Court has discretion under RAP 2.5(a)(3) to review all errors, even any inadequately preserved erros.² State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. at 150-51.

² The errors occurring here can be addressed as multiple errors of the trial court's <u>in limine</u> order causing incurable prejudice and requiring a mistrial, or as multiple evidentiary errors which resulted in cumulative prejudice that deprived Mr. Graham of a fair trial. The essential question is the same – that of a fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. 14.

In this case, the witness's statements caused prejudice that resulted in an unfair trial. In response to Officer Hurt's first two violations, and in discussing the mistrial motion, the State appeared to argue that the jury was already going to understand, based on "current events" and on opening statements, that Mr. Graham was in solitary confinement, and therefore the revelation that Nora East was a disciplinary unit carried no different impression. 11/12/14RP at 12, 43-44. The prosecutor also argued that the defense had made clear that its theory was that Mr. Graham was locked up for 23 hours a day in solitary confinement and it was those pressures that led him to do what he did. 11/12/14RP at 44-45.

In opening statement, the State had argued that Mr. Graham was angry because he had been deprived of his 1-hour per day time out of his cell, and the defense argued that Mr. Graham merely lost control, and did not intend a serious assault. See 11/12/14RP at 5, 15-17).

But the defense opening statement merely discussed the specific restrictions and stressful pressures that Mr. Graham was under, such as being told when he could eat, or bathe, and being locked in his cell for all but an hour. 11/12/14RP at 15-17. Defense counsel never mentioned "solitary confinement."

The revelation that Nora East was a "disciplinary" unit was not cumulative of some existing defense theory. The fact that Mr. Graham's counsel was resting the defense in part on a theory that the defendant's conditions in Jail caused him to lose control, rather than this being a planned assault with great intent to harm, did not mitigate the trial errors at all.

It was fully recognized during pre-trial motions that the segregated area that Mr. Graham was housed in might reasonably be viewed by the jury as used for persons as varied as Jail inmates who themselves required protection from others, or for general safety reasons. 11/3/14RP at 54-55. What the defendant, and the trial court, found prejudicial was discussion of the Nora East unit with a label that indicated Mr. Graham was being housed in the unit for disciplinary reasons. 11/3/14RP at 49-54.

The court repeatedly made clear its concern that the jury not infer or speculate that Mr. Graham had a history of violence, and that the label used for the unit should not imply "prior disciplinary problems," and that Mr. Graham must have a fair trial free from this prejudice. 11/3/14RP at 52-53, 55.

The purpose of the defendant's motion in limine was to make sure and distinguish any proper theory of the pressures of isolation, from improper ER 404(b)-type character and 'bad act' evidence about the fact, and the why, of Mr. Graham being housed in the Jail's disciplinary unit. 11/3/14RP at 53-54. This latter evidence would portray Mr. Graham, prejudicially, simply as a dangerous person.

The State's argument against the mistrial – that the fact of "solitary confinement" was going to be an overall topic of trial – was off the mark and not a tenable argument for the trial court to accept.

State v. Rundquist, 79 Wn. App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995) (a court's exercise of discretion must be based upon tenable grounds and tenable reasons and must then fall within a range of acceptable choices given the facts and the law).

Mr. Graham's right to a fair trial was prejudiced to the degree that the Washington courts have established a mistrial is required. In assessing prejudice, a court should examine not just the seriousness of the irregularity; but also whether it was cumulative of properly admitted evidence; and whether it could have been cured by an instruction. State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 254-55 (new trial warranted where assault complainant testified that the defendant

"already has a record and had stabbed someone"); State v. Weber, 99
Wn.2d at 165-66; see also State v. Thompson, 90 Wn. App. 41, 46, 950
P.2d 977 (1998). The ultimate inquiry is whether the testimony, when viewed against the backdrop of all the evidence, so tainted the trial that the defendant did not receive a fair trial. State v. Weber, 99
Wn.2d at 164.

Here, the errors could not have been cured. The errors had the same effect as improper character evidence, which allows a lay jury to reason that the defendant had the bad or violent character to commit the crime charged. See, e.g., State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 436 P.2d 198 (1968) (in robbery trial, police officer's testimony that said defendants planned to commit another robbery, was so prejudicial that its effect could not be erased by an instruction to disregard). Prejudicial inferences of "predisposition" to commit crimes are too prejudicial to be contained by a limiting instruction, because they are extraordinarily powerful. See, e.g., State v. Stith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 856 P.2d 415 (1993); see also Slough & Knightly, Other Vices, Other Crimes, 41 Iowa L.Rev. 325, 333-34 (1956). No curative instruction could erase the extreme prejudice of the witness's remarks in this case -- for a lay jury, this reasoning is too powerfully tempting to ignore.

Additionally, by definition, a mistrial does require that the trial commence with a new jury. If prejudice occurs that prevents the defendant having a fair trial, that result, though conflicting with the desire that the proceedings continue along, is warranted. See 11/12/14RP at 46-47. The violation of the court's in limine order should not be amenable to the prosecutor's arguments of judicial economy – particularly where the remarks carried the very same reversible prejudice to Mr. Graham that he argued, and that the trial court agreed, should not be interjected into the assault trial. See State v. Thompson, 90 Wn. App. at 46 (a trial irregularity is "sufficiently serious" for purposes of the prejudice necessary to require a mistrial or a new trial where it violates a motion in limine).

(e). It cannot be a factor that the prosecutor instructed his witnesses in good faith. The prosecutor did his level best to prevent the witness from violating the in limine order. Yet despite being carefully instructed by the prosecution by e-mail and discussion to refrain from mentioning the fact that the Jail's Nora East unit was a disciplinary unit, Officer Hurt violated the trial court's proscription. 11/12/14RP at 10, 11. This Court should not endorse any argument by the Respondent that the prosecutor's proper efforts to make the trial

court's ruling clear and understood by the witnesses, mitigates any harm in any way. It is true that the prosecutor appeared to have done his best to instruct the witnesses "over and over again." 11/12/14RP at 46. But the trial pivoted on the question whether the defendant was the sort of person who planned and executed a premeditatedly violent assault, and did so against a Jail guard. The prejudicial effect of the errors affected the jury, requiring a new trial.

- (f). Reversal required. It was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny the mistrial motion. See Escalona, supra; State v.

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