FILED
Jan 07, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73107-6-I

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION I** 

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SEON LEWARD GRAHAM,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE THERESA DOYLE

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

A "victim beaten unconscious and then further assaulted is surely no less vulnerable than a sleeping victim." State v. Baird, 83 Wn. App. 477, 489, 922 P.2d 157 (1996). Furthermore, there is no requirement of a "temporal break" between the blows that render the victim unconscious and the subsequent assault of the defenseless victim. Ogden, 102 Wn. App. at 368 (citing Baird, 83 Wn. App. at 489).

Because the standard of review here is substantial evidence, the question for this Court is not complicated: Could any rational

jury have found that Officer Letrondo was incapacitated; that
Graham knew it or should have known it; and that the
incapacitation was a substantial factor in the first-degree assault?
Clearly so. Put another way, would it have been *impossible* for a rational jury to find the aggravating factor of particular vulnerability or incapability of resistance? Clearly not.

To prove the "force or means" element of first-degree assault, the State focused on the testimony that Graham stomped and jumped upon Officer Letrondo's head, neck and chest while Letrondo was entirely unconscious and immobile. This testimony was substantial that Letrondo was wholly incapable of resistance as Graham's weight bounced Letrondo's limp body off the cement floor. Any rational jury could have concluded that Letrondo was both particularly vulnerable and incapable of resistance.

Graham contends that because, in his view, knocking out
Letrondo was an inseparable part of the assault, then Letrondo's
incapability of resistance "inhered in the State's proof of the
commission of the crime itself." AOB at 35. <u>Ogden</u> and <u>Baird</u>
make it clear that the temporal break Graham implies is not
required. Even so, the question here is simply sufficiency of the
evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Even framing the

question as Graham wants it, the jury had ample facts to conclude that the actual first-degree assault here — i.e., the assault with force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death — commenced when Graham saw Letrondo unconscious on the floor and broke away from Officer Wells to stomp and jump on Letrondo. Letrondo's particular vulnerability and incapability of resistance was obvious to Graham and allowed him to deliver the force and means likely to produce great bodily harm or death.

Apparently in search of a bright-line rule as a matter of law, that rendering a victim unconscious can *never* lead to this aggravating factor regardless of the facts, Graham attempts to discredit this Court's reasoning in both <u>Ogden</u> and <u>Baird</u>. His attempt should be rejected.

First, Graham contends that because <u>Ogden</u> and <u>Baird</u> were decided before <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, which held that a jury, not a judge, must find the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt, then <u>Ogden</u> and <u>Baird</u> are essentially void. This is not so. Graham fails to explain why transferring the fact-finding role to the jury, and increasing the burden of proof, changes the basic holdings of <u>Ogden</u> and <u>Baird</u> — that attacking an unconscious victim can

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

establish this aggravator even if the attacker caused the unconsciousness. All that <u>Blakely</u> changed was who decides that question, and how sure the factfinder must be.<sup>8</sup>

Graham further attempts to distinguish <u>Ogden</u> by noting that Ogden was not charged with assault. But that is a distinction without a difference. The key point in <u>Ogden</u> — a felony-murder case — was that Ogden beat the victim unconscious, making him incapable of resisting his fatal stabbing. 102 Wn. App. at 367. As this Court in <u>Ogden</u> put it: "Ogden's actions in this case are indistinguishable from the actions of a perpetrator who finds a person lying on the ground immobilized, and seizes the opportunity to rob and stab the person to death, knowing that the victim is unable to resist." <u>Id.</u> Such is the virtually identical situation here, where Graham seized the opportunity to jump and stomp on the visibly unconscious Officer Letrondo.

And in <u>Baird</u>, the fact that Baird was charged under a different means of first-degree assault is similarly of no significance.<sup>9</sup> The key point in <u>Baird</u> was that the defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Even under the pre-<u>Blakely</u> standard of review, this Court still reviewed whether the trial court had "substantial evidence" to support the aggravating factor. <u>See</u> Baird, 83 Wn. App. at 488.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Baird was charged under RCW 9A.36.011(c), requiring intent to inflict great bodily harm and actual infliction of great bodily harm. <u>Baird</u>, 83 Wn. App. at 487.

committed the act that constituted first-degree assault — cutting off his wife's nose — while his wife was incapacitated by Baird's own hand. The means of committing the first-degree assault was not relevant to this finding. Here, there was substantial evidence that Graham committed the acts that constituted first-degree assault — stomping and jumping on Letrondo — after the victim was incapacitated by Graham's own hand. There are no relevant differences between this case and <u>Baird</u> and <u>Ogden</u>.

Still, Graham complains that allowing this aggravator to apply to first-degree assault cases where the victim is injured "progressively" would allow the State to dole out "automatic" exceptional sentences on a "whim." AOB at 35. First, this is a faulty argument because a jury must decide the facts, and the trial court retains the legal discretion to decide whether an exceptional sentence is warranted. See Suleiman, 158 Wn.2d at 290-91. But more importantly, this Court has rejected this same argument twice, in Baird and Ogden.

In <u>Baird</u>, this Court rejected the argument that finding particular vulnerability "from the assault itself" would set "a dangerous precedent." 83 Wn. App. at 489. In <u>Ogden</u>, this Court rejected Ogden's contention that particular vulnerability could be

found "in every case where the perpetrator strikes the victim more than once." 102 Wn. App. at 368. Instead, this Court wisely concluded that a victim who is immobilized and then is gruesomely assaulted is different than a victim who "receives multiple blows but who is not thereby rendered totally helpless to defend himself or herself from further injury." Id. at 368-69. "Although the latter victim may be more vulnerable than other victims after he or she receives the first blow, his or her status does not rise to the level of 'particularly vulnerable victim' by mere virtue of enduring multiple strikes." Id. And this Court further refused to establish a bright-line rule in such cases. Id. This Court here should adhere to its sound reasoning in Ogden and Baird.

Again, the question here is not complicated: Could any rational jury find this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt? Surely. The aggravating factor of particular vulnerability or incapability of resistance should be affirmed.

## 3. THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF PARTICULAR VULNERABILITY IS NOT VOID FOR VAGUENESS.

Lastly, Graham contends that the aggravating factor of particular vulnerability is unconstitutionally vague. His argument is a non-starter because our supreme court has long held that

sentencing aggravators are not subject to vagueness challenges under the Due Process Clause, and Graham fails to demonstrate why this Court should not follow binding supreme court precedent. Even so, Graham may not raise a constitutionality challenge now because he failed to preserve the error. Finally, this aggravating factor is not vague.

a. A Defendant May Not Raise A Vagueness Challenge To A Sentencing Aggravator.

Under the Due Process Clause, a statute is void for vagueness if (1) it fails to define the offense with sufficient precision that a person of ordinary intelligence can understand it, or (2) it does not provide standards sufficiently specific to prevent arbitrary enforcement. State v. Eckblad, 152 Wn.2d 515, 518, 98 P.3d 1184 (2004). Both prongs of the vagueness doctrine focus on laws that prohibit or require conduct. State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 458, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003).

Our supreme court has previously held that sentencing aggravators are not subject to vagueness challenges under the Due Process Clause because they "do not define conduct nor do they allow for arbitrary arrest and criminal prosecution by the State." Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 459. "A citizen reading the guideline

statutes will not be forced to guess at the potential consequences that might befall one who engages in prohibited conduct because the guidelines do not set penalties." Id. The Court further observed that "[t]he guidelines are intended only to structure discretionary decisions affecting sentences; they do not specify that a particular sentence must be imposed. Since nothing in these guideline statutes requires a certain outcome, the statutes create no constitutionally protectable liberty interest." Id. at 461.

Graham declares that "courts" have relied on a "faulty premise" to hold that sentencing aggravators are not subject to vagueness challenges. AOB at 38. Graham does not explain why <u>Baldwin</u> is wrong — in fact, he does not mention <u>Baldwin</u> at all. Instead, he fleetingly suggests that the "courts" are wrong in light of <u>Blakely</u> because they supposedly relied previously on "judicial discretion."

Graham apparently gets this idea from a single sentence of dictum from this Court in State v. Jacobson, which was decided five years before Baldwin. 92 Wn. App. 958, 966-67, 965 P.2d 1140 (1998). In Jacobson, this Court addressed a vagueness challenge to a different aggravating factor and noted that federal sentencing guidelines are "simply not subject to a vagueness attack." 92 Wn.

App. at 966. This Court said that "it is difficult to imagine a case in which a Sentencing Reform Act provision that grants limited discretion to sentencing courts could be found unconstitutionally vague." Id. But because the State did not make that argument, this Court entertained (and rejected) the vagueness challenge, "even though we believe the application to be theoretically and analytically unsound." Id. at 967. After Baldwin, this Court presumably would not have bothered to even address vagueness.

The supreme court's analysis in <u>Baldwin</u> remains valid after <u>Blakely</u>. <u>Blakely</u> mandated that a jury, rather than a judge, decides whether facts exist to support an exceptional sentence. The change in the finder of fact, and the burden of proof from "by a preponderance," to "beyond a reasonable doubt," are the only pertinent changes that resulted from <u>Blakely</u>.

The sentencing aggravators in RCW 9.94A.535 do not purport to define criminal conduct. Graham claims that after Blakely, there is a "now-irrefutable proposition that aggravating circumstances operate as elements of a higher offense." AOB at 38. But our supreme court has stated that "an aggravating factor is not the functional equivalent of an essential element." State v. Siers, 174 Wn.2d 269, 271, 274 P.3d 358 (2012). And more

specifically, the particular-vulnerability aggravator is not the equivalent of an element of the underlying crime. <u>Gordon</u>, 172 Wn.2d 671, 678, 260 P.3d 884 (2011).

Instead, the statute lists accompanying circumstances that *may* justify a trial court's imposition of a higher sentence. But a jury's finding of a sentencing aggravator does not mandate an exceptional sentence. The trial court still has discretion in deciding whether the sentencing aggravator is a substantial and compelling reason to impose an exceptional sentence.<sup>10</sup> RCW 9.94A.535.

Graham discusses vagueness challenges to aggravating factors in capital cases, but capital cases are not applicable here. Our supreme court specifically addressed this in <u>Baldwin</u>, noting that "in noncapital cases a defendant does not have a constitutional right to sentencing guidelines." 150 Wn.2d at 448 (citing <u>Lockett v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S. Ct. 2954, 57 L. Ed. 2d 973 (1978). The difference is that in capital cases, the finding of an aggravating factor mandates a death sentence, while in noncapital cases the trial court can still opt not to give an exceptional sentence, and that discretion means "the statutes create no constitutionally protectable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For example, in <u>Siers</u>, the jury found the existence of a sentencing aggravator but the trial court declined to impose an exceptional sentence. 174 Wn.2d at 272-73.

liberty interest." <u>Baldwin</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 460-61. That is not changed by <u>Blakely</u>.

In the final analysis, this Court is obliged to follow directly controlling authority of our supreme court. <u>State v. Gore</u>, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 681 P.2d 227 (1984). Because Graham has not provided any cogent legal argument to show how <u>Baldwin</u> is wrong, this Court should reject Graham's vagueness challenge.

b. Graham Has Waived Any Vagueness Challenge.

Graham claims now that the pattern instructions to the jury on particular vulnerability were unconstitutionally vague, especially as they pertain to comparing Letrondo to a typical victim. However, Graham never proposed any additional or clarifying instructions at trial. Unobjected-to jury instructions are not subject to constitutional vagueness challenges on appeal. State v. Releford, 148 Wn. App. 478, 493, 200 P.3d 729, 736 (2009). Failure to elaborate on the meanings of aggravating factors is not error of constitutional magnitude that can be raised for the first time on appeal. Gordon, 172 Wn.2d at 678. This Court has repeatedly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Graham's only comment at trial to the instructions about the aggravating circumstances was an objection to part of the definition of "reasonable doubt." 11RP 64.

held that a defendant who believes a jury instruction is unconstitutionally vague has a ready remedy — proposal of a clarifying instruction — and the failure to propose further definition precludes appellate review.

In <u>State v. Fowler</u>, 114 Wn.2d 59, 69, 785 P.2d 808 (1990), overruled on other grounds by <u>State v. Blair</u>, 117 Wn.2d 479, 486-87, 816 P.2d 718 (1991), the defendant attempted to challenge the term "unlawful force" in the jury instructions as unconstitutionally vague. The Court held the claim was waived:

Although Fowler did take exception to the assault instruction proposed by the court, his exception did not involve the potential vagueness or overbreadth of the court's definition of the term "unlawful force." His objection cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.

114 Wn.2d at 69; see also State v. Payne, 25 Wn.2d 407, 414, 171 P.2d 227 (1946) (defendant who did not take exception to jury instructions waived claim that they were vague and confusing).

The reasons for this waiver rule have been explained as follows:

Vagueness analysis is employed to ensure that ordinary people can understand what conduct is proscribed and to protect against arbitrary enforcement of law. See City of Bellevue v. Lorang, 140 Wn.2d 19, 30, 992 P.2d 496 (2000). This rationale applies to statutes and official policies, not to jury instructions. Unlike citizens who must try to conform their conduct to a vague statute, a criminal

defendant who believes a jury instruction is vague has a ready remedy: proposal of a clarifying instruction.

<u>State v. Whitaker</u>, 133 Wn. App. 199, 233, 135 P.3d 923 (2006), rev. denied, 159 Wn.2d 1017, cert. denied, 555 U.S. 948 (2007) (emphasis added).

This Court should decline to address the defendant's vagueness arguments. A defendant who believes an instruction is vague should request a clarifying instruction so that the trial court can cure any possible error. To hold otherwise would encourage defendants to delay raising such issues until they receive an adverse verdict. Because the defendant did not propose any further instructions with respect to the aggravating circumstance, he has waived any claim that the instruction was vague.

## c. The Statute Is Not Vague.

A statute is presumed to be constitutional. <u>State v. Coria</u>, 120 Wn.2d 156, 163, 839 P.2d 890 (1992). The party challenging a statute's constitutionality for vagueness bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is unconstitutionally vague. <u>City of Spokane v. Douglass</u>, 115 Wn.2d 171, 177, 795 P.2d 693 (1990).

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